FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/3/2020 11:34 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 68701-8-1

PETITION FOR REVIEW				
Respondents.				
STATE OF WASHINGTON and WASHINGTON STATE BOARD OF PILOTAGE COMMISSIONERS,				
Petitioner, v.				
CAPTAIN BRUCE NELSON,				
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTO				
Supreme Court No. 98147-7				

## MANN & KYTLE, PLLC

Mary Ruth Mann, WSBA #9343 James W. Kytle, WSBA #35048 200 First Ave West, Suite 550 Seattle, WA 98119 (206) 587-2700 Attorneys for Petitioner

## **

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Captain Bruce Nelson, petitioner here and appellant below, respectfully asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Captain Nelson seeks review of the unpublished decision by the Court of Appeals entered on October 28, 2019. A Motion to Publish was filed and denied on January 2, 2020. A copy of the Opinion and the Denial of the Motion to Publish are provided in Appendix A-1 and A-2.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should accept review from Division I of the Court of Appeals decision upholding the Superior Court's grant of summary judgment to the Board of Pilotage Commissioners on Capt. Bruce Nelson's claim of age discrimination under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) because:

Issue No. 1: Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's opinion in Scrivener v. Clark College, 181 Wn.2d 439, 450 FN 3 (2014) as to consideration of age-based stray remarks as evidence of discriminatory intent for

purposes of denying summary judgment to an employer in an age discrimination case under the WLAD; and

Issue No. 2: Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) the decision of the Court of Appeals is a matter of substantial public interest as to whether a Plaintiff who has evidence of satisfactory performance prior to being "set up for failure" can meet the element of "satisfactory work performance" under RCW 49.60 as outlined in Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1, 189 Wash.2d 516, 527 (2017); and

Issue No.3: Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's opinion in Young v. Key Pharm., Inc, 112 Wn.2d 216,226,770 P.2d 182 (1989) requiring consideration of all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party on summary judgment and is a matter of substantial public interest.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. Factual Background

#### a. Captain Bruce Nelson

In 2005, Capt. Bruce Nelson applied to be a Puget Sound Pilot. He ranked #9 of 18 successful applicants on validated

(blind) scored written tests and validated (blind) scored piloting simulations, earning entry on merit into the Puget Sound Pilot Trainee Program. CP 371.

#### b. Deciding Officials on the Board of Pilotage Commissioners Made Adverse Age-Related Comments About "Older Pilots"

Board Commissioner Charles Davis testified about Board discussions in 2006 concerning older pilots "not [being] willing as some of the younger pilots to come back in order to do ...extra duty" and needing "extra time off" to rest and recover. CP 1367 (at 69:24-70:23-71:5) Capt. Nelson was 53 years old. CP 374.1

The Board of Pilotage Commissioners who license Puget Sound pilots had requested from the Puget Sound Pilots ("PSP") information regarding setting the number of pilots. CP 1067.

In July 2006, the President of the PSP responded to the

<sup>1 &</sup>quot;In an age discrimination claim, the [\*\*1070] protected class is individuals [\*447] between 40 and 70 years of age, but the employee is not required to show that he was replaced by someone outside that range; he need only show that he was replaced by someone significantly younger. Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 188, 23 P.3d 440 (2001); Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 362, 753 P.2d 517 (1988)". Griffith v. Schnitzer Steel Indus., 128 Wash. App. 438, 446-47, 115 P.3d 1065, 1069-70 (2005), rev.den'd, 156 Wn.2d 1027 (2006).

chairman of the Board of Pilotage Commissioners, inter alia:

The age and health of the pilot corps indicate ... that a Safe Assignment Level is in need of change.

- ... [O]ur pilot corps has aged. At the end of 1995 when the current Safe Assignment Level was adopted, the average age of our pilot corps was 49. Today it is over **56**. This is a significant factor for two reasons.
- Unfortunately, older pilots tend to be less able to handle the rigors of being overworked and take longer to recover.
- Secondly, older pilots lose more work time to health issues. PSP's medical leave experience is worsening. ...

CP 1068, CP1070. (Emphasis added).

c. Capt. Nelson's Evidence Includes Further Remarks by Commissioner Decision Makers Directly Linking Denial of Nelson's License to Similar Age Stereotypes

Capt. Nelson as part of the trainee program was assigned and rated on training trips. After Capt. Nelson completed all assigned training trips in September 2007, the three licensed training and evaluation pilots on the Training Evaluation Committee ("TEC") recommended to the Board of Pilotage Commissioners that Capt. Nelson be licensed as "he meets the requirements to be a licensed pilot" (Capts. Hannigan and Snyder) and that he "should move on to being licensed" (Capt. Kroman). CP 1335, 1165. There

were two votes cast against Capt. Nelson by Commissioners, Craig Lee and Ole Mackey, who sat on the TEC but are not Puget Sound Pilots. CP 1340 (25:1-2); CP 1345 (72:4-7): and CP 1458 (26:1)

Despite the TEC recommendation to the Board of Pilotage Commissioners in favor of licensing Capt. Nelson, in September 2007, he was denied a license by a single vote. Three (3) votes were cast in favor of licensing, four (4) opposed. CP 1567.

When Commissioners Lee and Mackey as Board Commissioners and as members of the TEC voted against Capt. Nelson being licensed in September of 2007, both expressed similar stereotypes as testified to by Commissioner Davis, including Capt. Nelson taking time off from training. Commissioner Lee emailed about licensing Capt. Nelson, that he "[t]ook 11 days off ... without an assignment (is he stressed out as a trainee?)" CP 1140. In actuality, Capt. Nelson took "seven days off which got misrepresented to 11." CP 1495 (at 98:7-9).

Commissioner Lee summarized the stereotypic reasons by stating, in part:

I don't feel comfortable licensing [Capt. Nelson] this month but also don't know what type of additional specific training to recommend. This could be an 'attitude' which, if so, could be difficult to correct. If stress is the problem how will he cope if licensed?

CP 1140.

A third Commissioner, Vince Addington, also voted against licensing Capt. Nelson in September 2007 and adopted Lee's and Mackey's pretextual and stereotypic reasoning, that Capt. Nelson took a "break" from training, indicating "there were issues with stress that might be affecting [Capt. Nelson's] performance."

CP 1464-65 (at 95:1-97:1, 99:19).

# d. Younger Trainees Who Took Time Off Did Not Receive the Same Treatment

Commissioner Mackey admitted different treatment: "I realized other people did it, but it's critical in Captain Nelson's position that taking time off may not have been appropriate." CP 1455 (at 12:13- 13:1).

Similar concerns were not expressed about younger trainees who took similar "breaks", and who struggled in training.

Capt. 1 (40 years old) took numerous breaks between trips, including one break of 10 days; another break of 13 days; and a break of seven (7) days during his "extension" — the same length

of "break" Capt. Nelson took during his "extension." Capt. Nelson was 53.

Commissioner Mackey admitted he did not have a "similar standard" for all of the trainees. CP 1329 (at 25:8-26:21). Nor did he inform Capt. Nelson of the unique rules applied to him. ("I expect you to know ... on your own what you need to succeed. ... [Y]ou shouldn't have to tell him.") CP 1457 (at 20:10-11).

Commissioner Mackey's stated standard was that Capt. Nelson was in "boot camp. You can't take time off at boot camp." CP 1328 (at 24:1-2); "I wouldn't take any time off. I'd drop.... [W]hen I couldn't get up and go anymore, then that's when I would stop." CP 1456 (at 16:5-9); "So that's the rule..... [Y]ou've got to keep pushing ahead no matter what...." CP 1456 (at 19:12-25).

As a result of the denial of a license in September of 2007, Capt. Nelson was put on repeated extension programs from September 2007 to April 2008.

After the September 13, 2007 Board meeting voting to deny

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Mann Decl., Exh. 24; accord <u>id.</u>, Exh. 1 (showing Capt. 1's "extension" began 7/14/06, and he made *no* trips from 7/20/06 to 7/26/06); *and see* CP 1495 (at 98:7-9), CP 5708 (showing Nelson made trip on 7/30/07), CP 5668 (Nelson made trip on 8/08/07).

Capt. Nelson a license, the Board failed to provide Capt. Nelson with any reason for their decision not to license, nor any indication as to the skill areas upon which he needed to improve. CP 1437 (at 104:17-24). Capt. Nelson's "e-mails went unanswered." CP 1471 (at 9:22). The only feedback he received from the TEC during this period was to "[j]ust keep riding." CP 1438 (at 111:20-112:9); CP 1473 (at 19:18-19).

On September 27, 2007, after receiving a telephone call from Pilotage Commissioner Capt. Hannigan, Capt. Nelson wrote to Capt. Hannigan and the other licensed pilots on the TEC (Capts. Snyder and Kromann), in relevant part:

[T]hinking about this morning's phone call from you in regards to a new emphasis on obtaining excess [i.e., 'extra'] training trips in lieu of specific trips has me puzzled. Since the call took place with four days left in the month and I have [already] four trips to make to get to 18, this seems like an unrealistic expectation. ... I can't help but feel that I am being set up for failure. CP 1168. (emphasis added)

On October 25, 2007, in an email to fellow TEC members, Captain Hannigan admitted that it appeared the TEC had "initiated the Vicious Circle of failure" and combined it with the "Heisenberg Principle" when it issued Capt. Nelson extensions, "giving him hard trips the first time and even harder trips the second time." CP 1170.

Capt. Hannigan wrote to the TEC that "we need to do something other than just pile extra difficult trips on top of very difficult trips and expect that we will have a beneficial training experience." CP 1171. Captain Kromann wrote in response, admitting Nelson was "set ... up for failure by assigning [him] the last group of very demanding, hard to get trips." CP 1170. In December 2008 the Commissioners voted to remove Capt. Nelson from the licensing program.

#### e. The Board Continued to Train and License Younger Trainees After Capt. Nelson Was Denied A License.

After the Board failed to license Capt. Nelson, in September 2007, the Board continued to train and license pilots, "demonstrating a continued need for the same services and skills." The Board began Capt. 13 and Capt. 14 in pilot training on October 1, 2007. CP 4465. At that time, they were aged 40 and 44, respectively. CP 1971. Also, following the denial of licensing for Capt. Nelson in September 2007, the Board licensed Capt. 11, who at the time was 40 years old. See CP 4482; CP 3447.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, 110 Wn.2d 355,363, 753 P.2d 517 (1996)

# f. Evidence that Capt. Nelson was Treated Differently

Expert David Goodenough, MS, LMHC, BCPC, testified about his review of the Board's pilot trainee program and the treatment of Capt. Nelson. His opinion was that had Capt. Nelson been evaluated and treated as other trainees, before and after him, he would have been licensed in September 2007, October 2007, or January 2008. <sup>4</sup> Furthermore, there is evidence that Capt. Nelson was subjected to more difficult training trips than other trainees.<sup>5</sup>

#### 2. Procedural Background

# a. Proceedings in Superior Court and Court of Appeals

Capt. Nelson while pursuing an administrative appeal of the license denial filed suit on September 9, 2010, alleging among other claims age discrimination. On September 23, 2011, the defendants moved for summary judgment. On March 28, 2012, the trial court granted summary judgment concluding that res judicata barred Capt. Nelson's claims and collateral estoppel applied to the ALJ's findings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mann Decl., Exh. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Nelson v. Wash. State Bd. of Pilotage Comm'rs, No. 75559-5-I, 2017 Wash. App. LEXIS 2801, at \*16 n.7 (Ct. App. Dec. 11, 2017) cited by the Court of Appeals in its decision for the "underlying facts". Slip opinion at 2

in his administrative appeal case. Capt. Nelson moved for reconsideration, and on May 3, 2012 the trial court denied the motion. An appeal was filed, and the Court of Appeals stayed this case until the administrative appeal was concluded. After its conclusion in 2017, Capt. Nelson moved the Court of Appeals to supplement this civil case record with additional evidence which was denied. The resulting Appellant opinion before this Court concluded, in part, that res judicata and collateral estoppel did not apply but that nevertheless Capt. Nelson failed to establish a claim for age discrimination because he did not establish a prima facie case that he was performing satisfactory work. Slip opinion at 12-14

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

a. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with this Court's Opinion in Scrivener that All Evidence Including Stray Remarks that Support Discrimination Should be Considered on Summary Judgment

A court should not overlook "stray remarks" that are discriminatory statements and are clearly admissible under the rules of evidence. Scrivener 181 Wn.2d at 450 FN 3 (2014).<sup>6</sup> The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "An age-based remark not made directly in the context of an employment decision or uttered by a non-decision-maker may be relevant, circumstantial evidence of discrimination." Id. at 539. We agree. Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181

weight of the evidence is within the province of the jury and not the Court. In this case, Commissioners' discussions about "older pilots" and the statements of decision making Commissioners Mackey, Lee and Addington as to time off and attitude, supra at 3-7, are clearly relevant and admissible but were not mentioned or considered by the Court of Appeals, despite recognized law of this Court that "all facts" are to be considered on summary judgment.

We review a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo. Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co., 179 Wn.2d 684, 693, 317 P.3d 987 (2014). Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). When making this determination, we consider all facts and make all reasonable factual inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Young v. Key Pharm., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989).

Scrivener 181 Wash. 2d at 439 (2014) (emphasis added)

At the time the appellate briefs were filed in this case, in 2012 and 2013,<sup>7</sup> this Court's decision in Scrivener did not exist. Nevertheless, that decision was provided as supplemental

Wash. 2d 439, 450 n.3, 334 P.3d 541, 548 (2014) (citing Reid v. Google,Inc., 50 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 512 (2010)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Capt. Nelson filed a motion to supplement the record in this case which was denied by the Court of Appeals and this Court denied review of that decision. Capt. Nelson did file supplemental authorities citing Scrivener, but the Court of Appeals decision does not reflect the evidence of stray remarks that were cited to it in the original briefs in this case. See, e.g., opening brief of Appellant pgs. 12-14.

authority to the Court of Appeals prior to it rendering its decision and was mentioned in its opinion. Slip opinion at 2.

The briefs filed in the Court of Appeals in 2012 and 2013 by Capt. Nelson cited the remarks at issue. Supra at 3-7. Opening Brief of Appellant in Court of Appeals at 21-25.41-42 Response to Summary Judgment in trial court. See, e.g., CP 1004 -1007 As noted by this Court in Scrivener, even an age-based remark not made directly in an employment decision "may be relevant, circumstantial evidence of discrimination." Scrivener at 451 FN 5 citing Reid v. Google, Inc., 50 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 512, 539 (2010).

In this case, remarks were in the context of a licensing decision and of other adverse age-based discussions by Commissioners including Mackey, Lee, and Addington. Supra at 3-7. They applied different and pretextual standards to Capt. Nelson. The no days off, or "boot camp," rule that Mackey, Lee, and Addington applied to Capt. Nelson in September 2007, demanding "no days off" or stereotyping them as evidence of inability to handle stress may be considered as direct evidence of discrimination. See, e.g., Boyle v. Montgomery Country Club, No. 2:17-cv-282-WKW-DAB, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 192692, at \*10 (M.D. Ala. Nov. 9, 2018) (Statement that plaintiff looked "old and tired" and "should"

take time off" arguably direct evidence of discrimination).8

"Direct...evidence' includes discriminatory statements by a decision-maker and other 'smoking gun' evidence of discriminatory motive."

Fulton v. State, Dept. of Social & Health Services, 169 Wn.App. 137, 148 n.17, 279 P.3d 500 (2012) (internal citations omitted).

The Court of Appeals not only ignored the most favorable evidence of age discrimination and pretext in contradiction to Scrivener but did discuss other stray remarks made by Commissioner Mackey, regarding "baby boomer" retirement. Slip opinion at 10-11. The Court of Appeals cited Hatfield v. Columbia Fed. Sav. Bank, 68 Wn. App. 817, 825,846 P.2d 1380 (1993) for the proposition that inquiries into retirement are not probative of discrimination. Slip opinion at 11.The plaintiff in Hatfield failed to rebut the employers non-discriminatory explanation for discharge because the court used the now disfavored "determining factor" standard, citing Stork v. International Bazaar, Inc., 54 Wn. App. 274, 284, 774 P.2d 22 (1989). Furthermore, Hatfield admitted at trial in response to a motion for a directed verdict at the close of his evidence that he

<sup>8</sup> Boyle v. Montgomery Country Club, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 212339 (M.D. Ala., Dec. 18 2018) (magistrate report adopted by District Court)

produced no direct, comparative, or statistical evidence of age discrimination in response to the non-discriminatory reasons given for his dismissal. Id. But in this case, direct and comparative evidence was cited to the Court of Appeals.

Due to the liberal construction of the WLAD, this court refused to follow Stork in Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 310, 898 P.2d 284, 288 (1995).

If a discriminatory remark is relevant, the weight of the evidence is a question for the jury and not the court.9 In this case all Commissioners, including Mackey, Lee, Addington and Davis were decision-makers. Where "a decision maker makes a discriminatory remark against a member of the plaintiff's class, a reasonable fact finder may conclude that discriminatory animus played a role in the challenged decision." Dominguez-Curry v. Nevada Transp. Dept., 424 F.3d 1027, 1038 (9th Cir. 2009).

A jury should be allowed to weigh this relevant evidence against the Board's insistence that age played no part in the licensing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "Determining the weight of discriminatory or ambiguous remarks is a role reserved for the jury. (See Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products, Inc.,], supra, 530 U.S [133]. at pp. 152–153 [2000].)" Reid v. Google, Inc., 50 Cal. 4th 512, 541, 113 Cal. Rptr. 3d 327, 351, 235 P.3d 988, 1008 (2010)

decision in accordance with Scrivener. To accept the Court of Appeals' decision to overlook and to not consider the stray remarks evidence, renders this Court's decision in Scrivener meaningless and is in contradiction to this Court's standard that "all evidence" is to be considered on summary judgment. Scrivener citing Young supra at 12.

# b. What Constitutes Evidence of Satisfactory Work that Creates A Material Question of Fact in A Discrimination Case

In order to make out a prima facia case of discrimination, the plaintiff must present direct evidence of discrimination<sup>10</sup> or show:

... that (1) [they were] within a statutorily protected class, (2) [that they were] discharged by the defendant, (3) [that they were] doing satisfactory work, and (4) [that] after [their] discharge, the position remained open and the employer continued to seek applicants with qualifications similar to the plaintiff. McDonnell Douglas [v. Green], 411 U.S.[792] at 802 [(1973)] see also Grimwood [v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355] at 362 [(1988)] [\*\*471] If the plaintiff establishes a prima facie case, it creates a rebuttable presumption of discrimination. Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181 Wn.2d 439, 446,334 P.3d 541 (2017) (2014).

Alonso v. Qwest Commc'ns Co., 178 Wash. App. 734, 743-44, 315 P.3d 610, 616 (2013)

Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas Cty., 189 Wash. 2d 516, 527, 404 P.3d 464, 470-71 (2017).

The Court of Appeals maintained that Capt. Nelson did not satisfy the third element that he was performing satisfactory work. This conclusion is rebutted by Nelson's evidence that all three TEC training pilots agreed he was ready for licensing in September of 2007, by testimony of Dr. Goodenough and because Capt. Nelson received more difficult training trips than other trainees. Supra at 10. The Court of Appeals makes no mention of the compelling evidence that Capt. Nelson was "set up for failure". Supra at 8-9.

Again, Capt. Nelson wrote to TEC Capt.s Hannigan, Snyder and Kroman on September 27, 2007 expressing concern about unrealistic expectations being placed on him and that he felt that he was "being set up for failure". CP 1168 (emphasis added)

The October 25, 2007 email where Capt. Hannigan described the "Vicious Circle of failure" combined with the "Heisenberg Principle" and giving Capt. Nelson "hard trips the first time and even harder trips the second time" is evidence that discrimination impacted Capt. Nelson's ability to successfully perform. CP 1170. Capt. Hannigan wrote to the TEC that "we need to do something other than just pile extra difficult trips on top of very

difficult trips and expect that we will have a beneficial training experience." CP 1171. Capt. Kromann wrote in response, admitting Nelson was "set ... up for failure by assigning [him] the last group of very demanding, hard to get trips." CP 1170.

Because **satisfactory** performance is viewed in light of all the evidence presented, summary judgment for the employer on this basis will rarely, if ever, be appropriate.

Griffith v. Schnitzer Steel Indus., 128 Wash. App. 438, 449 n.6, 115 P.3d 1065, 1071 (2005)

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