# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/4/2020 11:41 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98147-7

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### CAPTAIN BRUCE NELSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON and WASHINGTON STATE BOARD OF PILOTAGE COMMISSIONERS,

Respondent.

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SARA A. CASSIDEY WSB NO.: 48646 Assistant Attorney General 7141 Cleanwater Dr. S.W. P.O. Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 (360) 586-6300 OID No.: 91023

#

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals, in its unpublished opinion, followed this Court's precedent and comprehensively analyzed the evidence in the record in the light most favorable to Captain Nelson before correctly concluding that he had failed to produce sufficient evidence to survive summary judgment on his age discrimination claim. *See* slip op. at 8-9, 12. As the Court of Appeals determined, the record is devoid of direct or circumstantial evidence of age discrimination so as to create a question of fact for trial. *See* slip op. at 12, 14. Having correctly applied settled law to the unique facts before the court, the unpublished opinion, which is not precedent and is not binding on any court under GR 14.1(a), does not raise any reviewable issue of substantial public interest. For these reasons, the opinion does not meet the criteria necessary for discretionary review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4).

#### A. The Opinion Properly Followed Controlling Precedent and Determined, Under the Facts of This Case, That There was No Direct Evidence of Age Discrimination in the Record

The Court of Appeals properly recognized its role in this appeal was to review the summary judgment record for a genuine issue of material fact by engaging "in the same inquiry as the trial court, with questions of law reviewed de novo and the facts and all reasonable inferences from the facts viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Slip op. at 8-9 (citing CR 56(c), and quoting *Billings v. Town of Steilacoom*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 1, 14, 408 P.3d 1123 (2017)); *see also Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) (stating same). The court relied on this Court's precedent to explain that, for a WLAD age discrimination claim to survive summary judgment,

a plaintiff must demonstrate "a reasonable jury could find that the plaintiff's protected trait was a substantial factor motivating the employer's adverse actions." *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 445, 334 P.3d 541 (2014). To demonstrate the protected characteristic served as a substantial factor, the plaintiff needs to show "that the protected characteristic was a significant motivating factor bringing about the employer's decision." *Scrivener*, 181 Wn.2d at 445. The plaintiff has a burden of production, not persuasion, and may prove discrimination through direct or circumstantial evidence. *Scrivener*, 181 Wn.2d at 444.

Slip op. at 9.

The Court of Appeals then clearly addressed, and rejected, the substance of Captain Nelson's argument that the record contained direct

evidence of age discrimination based on certain remarks made by various witnesses. *See* slip op. at 9-12; Appellant's Br. at 41-42; Pet. at 11-16. As the Court of Appeals explained, and as Captain Nelson acknowledges, "[d]irect evidence 'includes discriminatory statements by a decision maker and other 'smoking gun' evidence of discriminatory motive.'" Slip op. at 9-10 (quoting *Fulton v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 169 Wn. App 137, 148 n.17, 279 P.3d 500 (2012)); Pet. at 14 (quoting same). The underlying record does not contain any such evidence of age discrimination, and the Court of Appeals correctly determined as much. *See* slip op. at 10-12.

First, the 2006 letter from PSP President McCurdy is not attributable to the Board because President McCurdy, a non-decision-maker, was not a Board commissioner. *See* slip op. at 10. Nor does his letter concern any licensing decision whatsoever. In addition, Commissioner Mackey's statement about "baby boomer" retirement and Commissioner Charles Davis's testimony that some pilots over age 60 were no longer willing to cover on their weeks off did not demonstrate any discriminatory animus, but rather explained why the Board approved the emergency examination in 2005 to address the then-existing and future-projected pilot shortage. *See id.* at 11 (citing *Hatfield v. Columbia Fed. Sav. Bank*, 68 Wn. App. 817, 825, 846 P.2d 1380 (1993)); RCW 88.16.090(4). Further, while the testimony of Commissioners Addington and Lee indicated their concerns that Captain Nelson may have been feeling stressed, nowhere in the record is there evidence that they connected his perceived stress to his age. *See* slip op. at 11-12. And, in fact, Captain Nelson testified that piloting can sometimes be a high stress job and agreed that the ability to handle stress should be considered by the Board when issuing a license. CP 5410-11.

Captain Nelson's petition identifies no other allegedly direct evidence in the record for which a different analysis would apply. See Pet. at 11-16. Rather, Captain Nelson appears dissatisfied with the Court of Appeals' opinion because he believes that the court did not consider the foregoing remarks to be *circumstantial* evidence of discrimination. See Pet. at 11 n.6, 13 (citing Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d 439, 451 n.3)). The analysis in Scrivener, however, focused solely on the pretext prong of the burdenshifting framework in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L. Ed. 2d 668 (1973). See Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 446 ("Today's review focuses on the pretext prong of the McDonnell Douglas framework."). As explained below, the Court of Appeals in this case did not reach that third prong of the analysis because it concluded Captain Nelson had failed to make a prima facie case of discrimination under the analysis' first prong. See slip op. at 12-14. Thus, the court had no reason to further discuss the import, if any, of the statements that Captain Nelson now claims are circumstantial evidence of discrimination.

Because the Court of Appeals correctly followed precedent in analyzing whether direct evidence of age discrimination existed to create a question of material fact, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

#### B. The Opinion Properly Followed Controlling Precedent and Determined, Under the Facts of This Case, That There was No Circumstantial Evidence of Age Discrimination in the Record

The Court of Appeals next analyzed whether circumstantial evidence created a question of fact and, in doing so, properly invoked the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting framework, as described in *Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. 1 of Kittitas Cty.*, 189 Wn.2d 516, 527-28, 404 P.3d 464 (2017). Slip op. at 12. The court correctly disposed of Captain Nelson's appeal under the first prong of that analysis regarding whether he could establish a prima facie case of discrimination. *See id.* at 12-14. In addition, his claim also ultimately fails under the pretext prong, as the Board has argued throughout this litigation. CP 28-33; Resp't Br. at 41-46. Both prongs are discussed below.

#### 1. There is no evidence in the record that Captain Nelson was performing satisfactory work so as to establish a prima facie case of discrimination

In *Mikkelsen*, this Court clarified that, in order to establish a prima facie case of discrimination in a wrongful discharge case, a plaintiff must show "(1) [they were] within a statutorily protected class, (2) [they were] discharged by the defendant, (3) [they were] doing satisfactory work, and

(4) after [their] discharge, the position remained open and the employer continued to seek applicants with qualifications similar to the plaintiff." 189 Wn.2d at 527. Relying on that formulation of the prima facie case, the Court of Appeals held that Captain Nelson did not demonstrate the third element, *i.e.*, that he was performing satisfactory work. *See* slip op. at 12-14.

As he did below, Captain Nelson in his petition argues that he was qualified for licensing because three members of the TEC, two whom were also commissioners, recommended licensing in September 2007. *See* Pet. at 17; Appellant's Br. at 42-43. But the Board, not the TEC, is charged with licensing authority. *See* RCW 88.16.035(1)(a)-(b). And at no time did a majority of *the Board* believe he was performing satisfactorily in the training program. By the end of his nearly disastrous fifth training extension involving the intervention at Pier 86, the TEC believed that Captain Nelson would "do a dangerous job" and that there was significant risk to the public. CP 5153. Unsurprisingly, *none* of the commissioners, including the two who had previously recommended licensure, believed Captain Nelson qualified for a pilot's license. *See* slip op. at 13. Captain Nelson failed to demonstrate that he could "safely, efficiently, and consistently" pilot "without supervision."

Captain Nelson also argues that he was treated differently than other trainees and was being "set up for failure." Pet. 17-19. The Court of Appeals

rejected the substance of that argument when it explained that "[t]he Board extended the training program for every trainee with six or more interventions in the initial period and did not license any trainee with more than eight total interventions." Slip op. at 13. Captain Nelson had 17 total interventions and interventions continued throughout his extensions. *Id.* at 13-14. In addition, the Board's third extension purposefully included a number of easy trips, followed by trips in areas in which he had struggled, in order to give him a fresh start. CP 5149. Contrary to setting him up for failure, the Board was invested in his performance and provided him with multiple opportunities to succeed. He simply failed to do so.

Because the Court of Appeals correctly followed precedent in analyzing whether circumstantial evidence of age discrimination existed to create a question of material fact, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

# 2. There is no evidence in the record that the Board's legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for denying Captain Nelson a pilot's license was pretext

In addition, while neither the Court of Appeals nor the trial court reached the third prong of the *McDonnell Douglas* burden-shifting analysis, the Board has consistently argued that Captain Nelson has not shown that the Board's legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for denying him a license – his poor performance – was pretext. *See* CP 28-33; Resp't Br. at 41-46. This is therefore an alternative basis for affirming the decisions of the Court of Appeals and the trial court, should this Court be otherwise inclined to grant review on Captain Nelson's petition.

In *Mikkelsen*, this Court affirmed summary judgment for the defendant on a claim of age discrimination under the pretext prong because the plaintiff presented "almost no evidence of age discrimination." 189 Wn.2d at 536. In that case, the plaintiff testified that her supervisor once referred to long term employees as "old and stale" and that he had a "fixation" on a 72-year-old employee. *Id.* Her testimony suggested that her supervisor "was simply marveling that some employees had worked for the same employer for so long." *Id.* Thus, this Court concluded that the plaintiff "presents no evidence that [her supervisor] treated older employees differently or that her age played a role in [her supervisor's] decision to fire her." *Id.* Accordingly, this Court held that age discrimination was not a substantial factor in the decision to fire the plaintiff. *Id.* 

In this case, there is no evidence that the Board considered age at all, let alone made it a substantial factor, in deciding to deny Captain Nelson a pilot's license. Rather, the evidence shows that (1) all trainees were experienced mariners, older than age 40 at the time of the Board's respective licensing decisions; (2) at no time during the Board's deliberations did the Board discuss Captain Nelson's age; (3) the Board Chairman did not even know Captain Nelson's age until during his administrative appeal; (4) Captain 10, who was only about seven months younger than Captain Nelson, also had eight initial interventions, was extended, and was then licensed after completing his extension without accruing additional interventions; (5) trainees older than Captain Nelson who performed well were licensed (Captains 5 and 15); (6) some commissioners considered retirement projections, the fact that some pilots over age 60 were unwilling to make extra trips, and the effect of stress on trainees; and (7) the Board is statutorily required to plan for pilot shortages. None of that evidence establishes that Captain Nelson's age was a substantial factor in denying him a license so as to create a question of material fact as to whether the Board used Captain Nelson's poor performance as pretext for discrimination.

Because this alternative basis for affirmance would obviate any need for this Court to reverse summary judgment in favor of the Board, discretionary review should be denied.

#### C. Because the Opinion Rests on Settled Law and Unique Facts, the Petition Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Finally, to the extent that Captain Nelson seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because he claims that the Court of Appeals' opinion "dramatically raise[s] the bar for a plaintiff to survive summary judgment

in a WLAD age discrimination case[,]" Captain Nelson is mistaken. While a decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest, *see State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005), this is not such a case. Here, the opinion at issue applies settled law to unique and particular facts that are unlikely to recur. Indeed, not one of the tests and standards outlined in the Court of Appeals' opinion, when addressing the merits of Captain Nelson's age discrimination claim, is novel or new. *See* slip op. at 8-10, 12 (discussing applicable law). Given the particularized nature of the facts and the unpublished status of the opinion, the Court of Appeals' analysis under those standards does not present an issue of substantial public interest that this Court needs to address.

#### V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming summary judgment in favor of the Board on Captain Nelson's age discrimination claim is not warranted. The decision neither conflicts with this Court's precedent nor presents an issue of substantial public interest. Review should be denied.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Because Captain Nelson has not yet prevailed, he is not entitled to any award of fees against the Board in this case. *See Wascisin v. Olsen*, 90 Wn. App. 440, 445, 953 P.2d 467 (1997) (under RAP 18.1, a prevailing party is one who receives judgment in that party's favor); Pet. at 20 (requesting attorney fees on appeal).